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It is my pleasure to present to you our Annual Report
for the year to 30th June 2013.
On 2 September 2013, the Company announced that
sadly Mr Ronald William O’Regan, a Director of the
Company passed away in London. The Company,
fellow Directors and staff would like to extend their
condolences to Ron’s wife Jenny and his whole family
and express their appreciation for the contribution that
Ron has made to the Company over his years as a
Director of the Company.
Regretfully, as shareholders are no doubt aware,
Prospecting Licence, PL69/2003 which contained the
Company’s main asset, the Kihabe/Nxuu Project, in
Botswana was not renewed by the Minister for
Minerals, Energy and Water Resources, Botswana.
In compliance with Section 17(2) of the Botswana
Mining Act, the Company applied for a further two
year extension for PL 69/2003 on 29 March 2012.
This application was submitted within the required
three month time frame before the licence expired on
30 June 2012. As no rejection to this application was
received from the Minister within the three months to
30 June 2012, the Company continued in good faith to
conduct day to day exploration and resource
development operations on the project.

Regarding the programme that the Company
submitted for the two years to 30 June 2012, it was
unable to complete a feasibility study as proposed.
The non-availability of a commercial power supply to
the project area as previously assured would be
available, meant that a feasibility study could not be
completed in terms of the JORC Code. The Company
appealed to the Vice President of Botswana regarding
the Minister’s rejection, which appeal was then
rejected by the Minister. Consequently the Company
has filed a Notice of Motion in the High Court of
Botswana for the Minister’s rejection of the renewal of
PL69/2003 to be set aside.

ADDRESS BY THE CHAIRMAN

Address by the Chairman

With the restriction on the availability of raising funds
as a consequence of the non-renewal of PL69/2003
and also because of general market conditions, the
Company has not renewed a number of its licences in
Namibia.
The Company is still maintaining its
diamond licences in Botswana.
However the
extension of these licences will be reviewed in the
light of the outcome of the Notice of Motion filed in the
High Court of Botswana in respect of PL69/2003.
I extend my thanks to those shareholders and
directors who have continued to support the Company
by funding through a difficult year.

On 13 May 2013, some fourteen months after
submitting its application for renewal, the Company
was informed by the Minister of the rejection of its
application for renewal.
During this period the
Company had spent a further $1.2 million on the
project.

Nigel Forrester
Chairman and Managing Director
27 September 2013
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The Company was informed by the Minister that it had
“failed to carry out the approved prospecting
programmes” during the two years to 30 June 2012.
These programmes were compiled by the Ministry in
August 2010 but not advised to the Company until
April 2013.

PROJECTS

Projects - Botswana and Namibia
PL69/2003
THE KIHABE-NXUU PROJECT, BOTSWANA

On 29 March 2012 the Company applied for an extension of PL 69/2003, for a further two years to 30 June
2014.
Without receiving notification of the rejection of its application, within the required three months to 30 June 2012,
the Company continued in good faith conducting day to day exploration and resource development operations
of the project.
On 13 May 2013 some fourteen months later, the Company was advised by the Minister of Minerals, Energy
and Water Resources that its application for extension of PL69/2003 had been rejected. The rejection alleged
that the company had failed to comply with “the approved prospecting programme”.
The Company appealed to the Vice President of Botswana on 6 June 2013, which appeal was rejected by the
Minister on 9 July 2013.
On 27 September 2013 the Company (the Applicant) filed a Notice of Motion with the High Court of Botswana
and the Attorney General (the Respondent).
The Notice of Motion outlines the intention of the Applicant to make an application to the High Court for an order
in the following terms:
a)

That the Respondent’s decision to reject the application for renewal of Prospecting Licence 69/2003 be
and is hereby set aside;

b)

The Respondent is ordered to grant such application forthwith;

c)

In the event of the Respondent opposing this application it pay the cost thereof.
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In support of the Notice of Motion an affidavit was also filed by Nigel Raymond Forrester, Chairman of the
Applicant, outlining the following:
1.

The impossibility of the Applicant to comply with “the approved prospecting programme” compiled by the
Respondent in August 2010 for the two years to 30 June 2012. The Applicant was not advised by the
Respondent of “the approved prospecting programme.” The Applicant only had first knowledge of such a
programme when provided with a copy from the Respondent on 17 April 2013. (This is in response to
the Respondent maintaining that the Applicant had not complied with “the approved prospecting
programme”).

2.

The ultimate impossibility of the Applicant to produce a feasibility study, as it had proposed, in
compliance with:

3.
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a)

the internationally accepted JORC Code and

b)

The Respondent’s Checklist for Appropriate Company Programme of Prospecting. As outlined in
the Applicant’s application for extension of PL69/2003 for the two years to 30 June 2012., the
Respondent’s Checklist required compliance with “one of the international codes.”

Without the provision of a commercial grid power supply to the project area, as previously assured would
be available, the Applicant could not proceed with a feasibility study in compliance with the JORC Code.
(This is in response to the Respondent maintaining that the Applicant should have completed a
feasibility study regardless of the lack of power).

PROJECTS

4.

The acceptance by the Respondent of the Applicant’s proposed amendments to the prospecting
programme of PL69/2003 for the two years to 30 June 2012. The Applicant advised the Respondent on
23 March 2012 of proposed amendments to the prospecting programme, as a result of the forecast lack
of a commercial grid power supply to the project area. As the Respondent did not reject the Applicant’s
proposed amendments within two months, as required by section 22(1) of the Act, such amendments
took effect after that period. (This is in response to the Respondent maintaining that the Applicant
did not apply to amend the prospecting programme and that any amendments to the prospecting
programme should only be done after the approval of the Respondent).

5.

The Applicant’s reliance on a further renewal of PL69/2003 to 30 June 2014, as it did not receive a
rejection from the Respondent within three months of lodging its application for extension on 29 March
2012.

6.

The unreasonable 14 month delay in receiving a decision from the Respondent on 13 May 2013,
rejecting the Applicant’s application for extension of PL69/2003, lodged with the Respondent on 29
March 2012. During the 14 month time frame the Applicant continued in good faith with resource and
development operations.

7.

The failure of the Respondent to comply with the provisions of Section 17(4) and 17 (5) of the Act in that
it did not give the Applicant clear guidelines on how to remedy the alleged default.

Diamonds
West Ngamiland Diamond Project

The Company has eight prospecting licences for diamond exploration, covering an area of some 7,000 km 2, in
Western Ngamiland, Botswana. The Company believes that high potential exists in this area for the discovery of
kimberlites for the following reasons:
The area is part of or proximal to the south eastern margins of the Angolan Craton, prospective for the
discovery of kimberlites.



Part of the area is some 30km south of the recently discovered Nxau Nxau kimberlite field.



The area falls within the Limpopo dolerite dyke swarm, conducive to the occurrence of kimberlite
intrusives.



The area adjoins what previously was the Company’s Tsumkwe diamond project in Namibia, immediately
to the east, where to date a number of G10 pyrope garnet anomalies and macro diamonds have been
found in both drilling and loam sampling. It is possible that some of these anomalies have been sourced
from kimberlites within the area the Company now has under licence on the Botswana side of the border.

The information contained in this report relative to the West Ngamiland, Tsumkwe and Hardap diamond projects is based on
information approved for release by Mr Manfred Marx of Manfred Marx and Associates Pty Ltd, Bsc., Dip Env. Sc., Aus.I.M M.,
GSSA. Mr Manfred Marx is a consulting geologist to the Company. He has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style
of mineralisation under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a competent person as defined in
the 2004 edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of exploration results, mineral resources and ore reserves. Mr Marx
consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on this information in the form and context in which it appears.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Directors’ Report
The Directors of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. (“Mount Burgess” or the “Company”) submit herewith the annual
report of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. and its subsidiaries (the Group) for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.
In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:
Information about the Directors and Senior Management

The names, skills & experience of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are:
Mr N R Forrester, FCA
Chairman & Managing Director
Chartered Accountant

Mr Forrester is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and also a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia. He has been involved in the exploration and mining industry over
the past thirty two years. Mr Forrester is one of the original shareholders of
the Company which he floated in 1985.
Aged 68. Board member since 1985.

Mr M B Mosigi, BSc MSc
Executive Director
Geologist

Mr Mosigi has significant experience in base metal and diamond
exploration/mining. His previous diamond exploration and mining
experience, which included a significant period of time with Debswana and
Botswana Diamondfields covered work on the Orapa, Lethlakane, Jwaneng
and Damtshaa Diamond Mines in Botswana and the Bobbejaan, Water
Fissure and Bellsbank kimberlites in the Republic of South Africa.
Aged 54. Board member since 2009.

Mr R W O’Regan
Non-executive Director
Retired Stockbroker
(Deceased as of 2 September 2013)

Mr A P Stirling, FCA
Non-executive Director
Chartered Accountant

Mr O’Regan became a member of the London Stock Exchange in the 1970s
and a member of the board of Astaire and Partners, a firm of London
stockbrokers, from 1987-2009.
Aged 72. Board member since 2000.
Mr Stirling, a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, has had significant experience in investment and fund
management.
Aged 77. Board member since 2003

The above named Directors held office during the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial
year, except as noted for Mr R W O’Regan.
Directorships of other Listed Companies
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Directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the three years immediately before the end of the
financial year are as follows:
Name

Company

Position

Period of Directorship

Mr A P Stirling

Welsh Industrial Investment Trust Plc

Executive

July 1993 – April 2010

SpaceandPeople Plc

Non-executive

Since 21 June 2007

Former Partners of the Audit Firm

At no time during the year was any officer of the Company a partner in an audit firm, or a director of an audit
Company that was an auditor of the company for the year.
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Directors’ Shareholdings

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options in shares of the Company
or a related body corporate as at the date of this report.
Mount Burgess Mining NL
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Share Options

30,469,767

4,000,000

9,000,000

2,000,000

R W O’Regan and / or associates

23,773,530

2,000,000

A P Stirling and / or associates

38,443,530

2,000,000

N R Forrester and /or associates
M B Mosigi and / or associates

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Information about the remuneration of directors and senior management is set out in the remuneration report of
this directors’ report, on pages 11 to 14.
Share Options granted to Directors and Senior Management

The following table discloses the details of the option holdings of the Directors and senior management of the
Company. The issuing entity of all options is Mount Burgess Mining N.L.
Option
held
1/7/2012

Granted
during
the year

Balance
as at
30/06/2013

Number of
ordinary
shares under
option

Directors
N R Forrester

Chairman

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

M B Mosigi

Executive director

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

R W O’Regan

Non-executive director

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

Non-executive director

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

12,000,000

-

12,000,000

12,000,000

A P Stirling

Senior Management
J E Forrester

Company Secretary

S Chau

Company Secretary

Company Secretaries

The names and particulars of the Company Secretaries of the Company as at the end of the financial year are:
Particulars

Mrs J E Forrester

Aged 64, joined the Company upon listing in 1985 and was appointed as Joint Company
Secretary in 1993.

Ms S Chau, CPA

Certified Practising Accountant, aged 34, joined the Company in 2007 as Company Secretary/
Accountant and previously held a position in the audit division of Deloitte, Perth.

Review of Operations

(a)

The objectives of the Group are to explore for and in the event of discovery, develop commercial deposits
of mineral resources. To this end, the Group was during the year currently conducting the following
exploration:
Western Ngamiland, Botswana – Base metals and diamond exploration
On the 13 May 2013, the renewal of PL 69/2003, the Company’s Base Metals Project, was rejected. The
matter is currently before the High Court of Botswana. As a result, an impairrment of $7,358,532 has
been recognised in relation to this project. Further impairment of $7,449,786 has been recognised in
relation to the Tsumkwe REE project and Tsumkwe Diamond project. All additional impairment
recognised during the year has been brought about by the application prospecting licence having not
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Name

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Review of Operations (Contd)

(b)

(c)

Performance and indicators used by management in carrying out the above objectives include:


Assessing and reviewing the likeliness of making a discovery through exploration



Assessing the risks and rewards relative to the costs of exploration and the values of the minerals
being explored for

As the Group is involved only in exploration and resource development at this stage, any significant
commercial discovery or resource upgrade could have a significant impact on the capitalisation of the
Group. However, inherent in all exploration are risk factors relative to rates of success. Even beyond
exploration at the point of resource development, risks prevail relative to fluctuations in commodity prices,
rates of exchange and political risk.

Operations and Principal Activities

(a)

The main business activity of the Group during the year was resource exploration and resource
development. Funds applied to the various exploration and resource development activities were as
follows:
2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

$

$

$

$

$

677

51,812

53,836

-

-

Exploration for diamonds in Namibia and
Botswana

42,391

54,350

66,077

498,140

266,409

Resource development for base metals in
Namibia and Botswana

244,256

498,564

370,426

463,016

1,202,304

Exploration for rare earths in Namibia

(b)

As the Group was involved only in exploration and resource development during the year there were not
any returns to shareholders by way of dividends and increase in shareholder funds. Between 2009 and
2013 the Company’s shares traded as follows:
2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

Low
cents

High
cents

Low
cents

High
cents

Low
cents

High
cents

Low
cents

High
cents

Low
cents

High
cents

0.1

0.4

0.2

1.2

0.6

2.7

1.0

1.0

2.0

3.0
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Financial Conditions

(a)

Further resource exploration requirements beyond the Group’s current cash resources can only be
funded from further share and loan capital raisings or the sale or joint venture of equity in the projects.

(b)

At the end of the financial year, the Group had cash resources of $14,717.

(c)

Other than bank facilities of $415,000, a loan agreement with Exchange Services Ltd, a company
controlled by A P Stirling, a Director of the Company, for funding up to £245,000 if required, funding of
$452,064 provided via a loan from Nigel Forrester and $37,500 from Ron O’Regan, there were no other
resources available to the Group that are not reflected in the Statement of Financial Position, other than
the availability to raise further funds through the issue of shares, the sale or joint venture of equity in
projects, the sale of assets or the recoupment of expenditure through claims for damages in respect of
the non-renewal of PL69/2003.
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As the Group was involved only in exploration and resource development during the year there was not
any cash generated from operations.

(e)

The financial condition of the Group was not impacted by any legislation or other external requirements
during the reporting period. It is not currently foreseen that the financial condition will be materially
affected by such issues in future reporting periods.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

(d)

A full review of operations is outlined on pages 4 to 5.
Change in State of Affairs

During the year there was a significant change in the state of affairs of the Group, as a result of the Minister for
Minerals, Energy and Water Resources (MMEWR) informing the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Mount
Burgess (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited (MMB) on 13 May 2013 of his rejection to renew Prospecting Licence
PL69/2003.
PL 69/2003 contains the Group’s main Kihabe-Nxuu Zn/Pb/Ag project, on which the Group was incurring
expenditure on a day to day basis on resource development.
A Notice of Motion has been filed in the High Court of Botswana to set aside the decision of rejecting the
renewal of PL69/2003.
Subsequent Events

On 9 July 2013 The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Mount Burgess (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited
(MBB) received a letter from the Minister of Minerals, Energy and Water Resources (MMEWR) rejecting MBB’s
appeal lodged with the Vice President on 6 June 2013. MBB appealed against the decision by MMEWR not to
renew its prospecting licence PL69/2003.
On 1 August 2013, the Company received an additional loan of $60,000 from N.R Forrester, a Director of the
Company.
On 13 August 2013 The Company announced that MBB had commenced legal proceedings against MMEWR in
respect of the non-renewal of PL69/2003. Funding of the litigation was agreed to be undertaken by Mr A P
Stirling, a Director of the Company.
On 16 August 2013 the Company received further loan funds from NR and JE Forrester amounting to $20,000.
On 29 August 2013 the Company received further loan funds from Mr R W O’Regan amounting to $5,000.
On 5 September 2013 the Company received $11,000 through share placements of 13,750,000 shares.
On 24 September 2013 the Company received $8,000 through a share placement of 10,000,000 shares.

a)

That the Respondent’s decision to reject the application for renewal of Prospecting Licence PL69/2003
be and is hereby set aside;

b)

The Respondent is ordered to grant such application forthwith;

c)

In the event of the Respondent opposing this application it pay the costs thereof .

Other than the above, there have not been any matters or circumstances occurring subsequent to the end of the
financial year that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the result
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.
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On 27 September 2013 a Notice of Motion was filed by MBB (The Applicant) in the High Court of Botswana and
the Attorney General of Botswana (the Respondent) for an order in the following terms:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Future Developments

Provided the Group can secure the legal right to renew PL69/2003 in Botswana, it will be continuing exploration
and enhancement of resource development on the various projects that it has committed to as outlined in the
Projects Section of this report. If the Group loses the legal right to renew PL69/2003 it will have to embark upon
sourcing new projects.
Environmental Regulations

The Board is committed to environmental best practice in its operations and ensures full compliance with all
statutory environmental regulations and guidelines in the countries in which it operates. No known
environmental breaches have occurred in relation to the Group’s operations.
Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no dividend has been paid or declared since
the end of the previous financial year.
Shares Under Option or Issued on Exercise of Options

MOUNT BURGESS MINING NL ANNUAL REPORT 2013

On 30 July 2010, the Company introduced a new Employee Share Option Plan (2010) governed by the following
terms and conditions:
(1)

each option will be issued free of consideration;

(2)

the Options shall not be transferred or assigned by the holder provided that the holder shall be at liberty
at any time to transfer all or any of his or her Options to his or her wife or husband respectively or to a
proprietary limited company all the issued shares of which are beneficially owned by the holder and his or
her wife or husband or any other nominee of the Eligible Employee, provided that any such transferee
first undertakes to the Company, in a deed, not to transfer or assign such Options until such time as they
are exercised;

(3)

each Option will entitle the holder to subscribe for one share at an exercise price;

(4)

the Options expire at 5.00pm on 31 December of the year five (5) years from the year of grant;

(5)

the Options are exercisable wholly or in part by forwarding to the Company an “Option Exercise Form”,
accompanied by payment of the exercise price;

(6)

the Options are exercisable at any time on or prior to the Expiry Date;

(7)

there are no participating rights or entitlements inherent in the Options and holders will not participate in
any new issue of capital offered to shareholders during the currency of the Options;

(8)

shares issued on the exercise of Options will rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary share capital;

(9)

an Option’s terms must not prevent the Option being reorganised as required by the Listing Rules on a
reorganisation of capital;

(10)

the Company shall grant the Options and deliver the certificates relating to the Options to the Eligible
employee within ten (10) business days of the Application Date.

Status of the Options

Any options issued under this plan will not be listed on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited for official
quotation.
Only upon exercise of the Options issued under the plan will the Company make application to the Australian
Securities Exchange Limited for the quotation of the shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Options.
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As at 30 June 2013 the following options over ordinary shares of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. remain on issue:
Number of Shares Under Option

Expiry Date

Exercise price $

10,000,000

31/12/2015

0.05

3,100,000

31/12/2015

0.05

250,000

31/12/2015

0.05

500,000

31/12/2016

0.05

Issued 17 September 2010
Issued 04 October 2010
Issued 16 November 2010
Issued 1 September 2011

13,850,000

All of the above options were issued as an incentive and in recognition of past performance and none are
dependent on the satisfaction of a performance condition. Further details of the options on issue are disclosed
in Note 25 to the financial statements.
No shares have been issued during or since the end of the year as a result of the exercise of an option over
unissued shares.
Indemnification of Officers and Auditors

During or since the end of the year, the Company, except to the extent permitted by law, has not given any
indemnity to a current or former officer or auditor against a liability or made any agreement under which an
officer or auditor may be given any indemnity .
During the year, the Group did not pay premiums in respect of directors’ and officers’ indemnity insurance for the
financial year under review.
Remuneration Report – Audited

This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director and the key personnel management
of Mount Burgess Mining NL. The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required
by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.
Directors Details

The following persons acted as directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year:
Mr N R Forrester (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr M B Mosigi (Executive Director)
Mr R W O’Regan (Non-executive Director) - deceased as of 2 September 2013
Mr A P Stirling (Non-executive Director)

Remuneration Committee
Due to the limited size of the Group and its operations and financial affairs, the use of a separate remuneration
committee is not considered appropriate. The Board has adopted the following policies for Directors’ and
executives’ remuneration.
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For the purpose of this report key management personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or
indirectly, including any director (whether executives or otherwise) of the parent company and all key
management personnel.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

A.

Remuneration Policy

The Board of Directors maintains remuneration policies aimed at attracting and retaining a motivated workforce
and management team which are within the economic capabilities of the Company. The intention is to match the
outcomes from the remuneration system with the performance of the Company and ultimately the value received
by our shareholders on a long-term basis.
As an overall policy, the Group will remunerate in such a way that it motivates Directors and management to
pursue the long-term growth and success of the Group.
B.

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, the structure of Nonexecutive Director and executive compensation is separate and distinct.
Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration
The non-executive directors receive fees either in cash or in shares in lieu of cash – subject to shareholder
approval (including statutory superannuation where applicable) for their services. No non-executive directors’
fees have yet been paid for the year to 30 June 2013.
ASX Corporate Governance Principles 8.2 recommends that Non-executive directors should not receive options
or bonus payments. The Company does not comply with this recommendation as it grants options to all nonexecutive Directors in recognition of the significant time they contribute to the Company. The non-executive
directors are often called upon to perform duties for the Company overseas or spend considerable time away
from their earning base to represent the Company. Their fees for these duties (currently waived) in no way
cover what they could otherwise earn. The options granted are exercisable at a significant premium to the
current share price.
Executive Remuneration
Directors and staff are granted options in recognition of their efforts and to act as long term incentives for their
retention and for creating value for the Company. None of these options are issued for the satisfaction of any
performance conditions. All options issued to directors are subject to shareholder approval.
The Board reviews the remuneration packages and policies applicable to executive directors, executives and
non-executive directors on an annual basis. Remuneration levels relative to current market conditions will be
competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced directors and senior executives. Where
necessary the Board will obtain independent advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages. The
Company did not utilise the services of remuneration consultant for the year.
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Remuneration packages contain the following key elements:
a.

Short term employee benefits - salary/fees (including any annual leave accrued), share issued in lieu of
directors fees or salary sacrifice and unlisted share options granted under Employee Share Option Plan
and non-monetary benefits

b.

Post employment benefits – including superannuation

c.

Other long term employment benefits – long service leave

d.

Share based payment - unlisted share options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan

There is no link between the remuneration policy and the Company’s performance.
C.

Key Terms of Employment Contracts

Mr B Mosigi is a party to a service contract with Mount Burgess Mining NL, which sets out a fixed compensation
package of $24,000 per annum. There are no termination benefits specified in this contract. Mr B Mosigi was
appointed as Technical Director on 1 March 2009.
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D.

Details of Remuneration

The compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the Company and Group is set out
below:

Remumeration
consisting of options

Proportion related to
performance

Share based payments.
Options and rights

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

-

-

24,0002

-

-

-

24,000

-

-

-

-

12,0002

-

-

-

12,000

-

-

-

-

2

-

-

-

24,000

-

-

187,436

1,270

24,0002

15,564

6,641

-

234,911

-

-

8,279

-

12,0002

-

-

-

20,279

-

-

195,715

1,270

96,000

15,564

6,641

-

315,190

Total

Non-monetary*

Other long-term
employee benefits

Salary & fees
2013

Shares issued in lieu
of directors’ fees or
salary sacrifice

Short term employee benefits

Post employment
benefits Superannuation

Remuneration for year ended 30 June 2013:

%

%

Non-executive Directors
R W O’Regan
1

G E Taylor

A P Stirling

24,000

Executive Directors
N R Forrester
M B Mosigi

*Non-monetary short term employee benefits include parking and FBT

Remumeration
consisting of options

Proportion related to
performance

Share based payments.
Options and rights

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

-

-

24,0003

-

-

-

24,000

-

-

3

Total

Non-monetary*

Other long-term
employee benefits

Salary & fees
2012

Shares issued in lieu
of directors’ fees or
salary sacrifice

Short term employee benefits

Post employment
benefits Superannuation

Remuneration for year ended 30 June 2012:

%

%

Non-executive Directors
R W O’Regan
G E Taylor

-

-

24,000

-

-

-

24,000

-

-

A P Stirling

-

-

24,0003

-

-

-

24,000

-

-

187,380

8,240

24,0003

15,564

6,642

-

241,826

-

-

25,689

-

12,0003

-

-

-

37,689

-

-

213,069

8,240

108,000

15,564

6,642

-

351,515

Executive Directors
N R Forrester
M B Mosigi

*Non-monetary short term employee benefits include parking and FBT
1.
2.
3.

Resigned on 20 June 2012
Shares issued in lieu of Director’s fees covers two year period – 1 July 2011—30 June 2012, approved by shareholders 22 November
on 2012
Shares issued in lieu of Director’s fees covers two year period – 1 July 2010—30 June 2011, approved by shareholders 24 November
on 2011.

No director or senior management person appointed during the period received a payment as part of his or her
consideration for agreeing to hold the position.
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E.

Issue of ordinary shares in lieu and share-based payments granted as compensation for
the current financial year

Issue of ordinary shares in lieu
At the General Meeting of shareholders held on 21 November 2012, approval was given for the issue of fully
paid ordinary shares in the Company in lieu of director fees and for a salary sacrifice as follows:
Number of fully paid shares to be issued
Mr A P Stirling

$24,000 worth at 0.6 cents* =

12,000,000

Mr R W O’Regan

$24,000 worth at 0.6 cents* =

12,000,000

Mr G E Taylor

$12,000 worth at 0.6 cents* =

6,000,000

Mr B M Mosigi

$12,000 worth at 0.6 cents* =

6,000,000

Mr N R Forrester

$24,000 worth at 0.6 cents* =

12,000,000
48,000,000

*The fully paid shares to be issued are at the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the shares in the five ASX trading
days prior to issue.

The shares were granted for nil cash consideration and no funds were raised.
The shares were allotted on 19 December 2012.
Employee Share Option Plan
Mount Burgess Mining NL operates an ownership-based scheme for executives and employees of the Group. In
accordance with the provisions of the plan, executives and employees may be granted options which can be
converted to ordinary shares.
Each employee share option converts into one ordinary share of Mount Burgess Mining NL on exercise
(payment of the set exercise price). No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option.
The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of vesting to the date of their expiry. All options granted during the financial year vest immediately.
The number of options granted is based on the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Board does not impose
any restrictions in relation to a person limiting his or her exposure to the risk in respect of options issued by the
Company. Given the nature of the company, options are not performance driven.
During the financial year, no option has been granted to directors and senior management, and no options
granted previously affect the current or future period.
Share based payments in existence during the year are disclosed in Note 25.
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There are no performance criteria that need to be met in relation to the options granted during the financial year
before the beneficial interest vests in the recipient at date of grant.
Share Issued on Exercise of Options
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company did not issue any ordinary shares as a result of the
exercise of options.
Voting and Comments made at the Company’s 2012 Annual General Meeting

Mount Burgess Mining NL received more than 99.37 % of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the 2012
financial year. The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its
remuneration practices.
End of Remuneration Report
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Directors Meetings

Twenty-nine Directors’ Meetings/Board Updates were held during the year during which Messrs Forrester,
O’Regan, Stirling and Mosigi were present.
Non-Audit Service

There were no amounts paid or payable to the auditors of the Group for non audit services provided during the
year.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration follows on immediately from the Directors Report.

This Directors’ Report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s.298 (2) of the
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

N R Forrester
CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
Perth, 27 September 2013
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
Tel: +8 6382 4600
Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY BRAD MCVEIGH TO THE DIRECTORS OF MOUNT BURGESS
MINING N.L.

As lead auditor of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. for the year ended 30 June 2013, I declare that, to the best
of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:


the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and



any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. and the entities it controlled during the
period.

Brad McVeigh
Director

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

MOUNT BURGESS MINING NL ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Perth, 27 September 2013

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd ABN 77 050
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation (other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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For the year ended 30 June 2013
Consolidated
2013

2012

Notes

$

$

Revenue

5(a)

-

-

Other income

5(b)

14,732

Administration expenses

5(c)

(824,667)

Finance costs

5(d)

(83,839)

(61,305)

Exploration interests written off

5(e)

(14,808,318)

(351,179)

Other expenses

5(f)

(5,518)

(4,553)

(15,707,610)

(1,290,528)

Loss before tax
Income tax benefit / (expense)

6

Loss for the year

19

117,638

(15,589,972)

2,663
(876,154)

90,725

(1,199,803)

-

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of
Mount Burgess Mining NL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other
Comprehensive Income

-

(15,589,972)

(1,199,803)

Loss per share:
Basic Loss per Share (cents per share)

19

(0.01)

(0.25)

Diluted Loss per Share (cents per share)

19

N/A

N/A

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2013
Consolidated
Notes

2013

2012

$

$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

23(a)

14,717

14,560

Trade and other receivables

7

4,344

5,015

Inventories

8

75

310

19,136

19,885

Total Current Assets
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Plant and equipment

9

9,369

20,153

Exploration interests

10

491,893

15,012,887

Total Non Current Assets

501,262

15,033,040

TOTAL ASSETS

520,398

15,052,925

11

168,179

109,871

Borrowings

12

1,358,212

982,680

Other financial liabilities

13

-

89,990

14

86,439

58,893

1,612,830

1,241,434

254

3,132

254

3,132

1,613,084

1,244,566

(1,092,686)

13,808,359

42,494,667

41,805,740

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

12

Total Non Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET (LIABILITIES) / ASSETS

MOUNT BURGESS MINING NL ANNUAL REPORT 2013

EQUITY
Issued capital

16

Reserves

17

Accumulated losses
Total Equity

18

490,017

490,017

(44,077,370)

(28,487,398)

(1,092,686)

13,808,359

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For the year ended 30 June 2013

Issued
Capital

Employee
Equity
Settled
Benefits
Reserve

Assets
Realisation
Reserve

Accumulated
Losses

Total

$

$

$

$

$

40,934,883

375,445

109,972

(27,287,595)

14,132,705

Loss for the year

-

-

-

(1,199,803)

(1,199,803)

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive loss for the year

-

-

-

(1,199,803)

(1,199,803)

Balance at 1 July 2011

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
-

4,600

-

-

4,600

762,857

-

-

-

762,857

108,000

-

-

-

108,000

41,805,740

380,045

109,972

(28,487,398)

13,808,359

Loss for the year

-

-

-

(15,589,972)

(15,589,972)

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive loss for the year

-

-

-

(15,589,972)

(15,589,972)

Share based payments
Share placement to professional investors
Shares issued in lieu of directors fees or
salary sacrifice
Balance at 30 June 2012

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
Share based payments
Share placement to professional investors
Shares issued in lieu of directors fees or
salary sacrifice

Balance at 30 June 2013

-

-

592,927

-

-

-

592,927

96,000

-

-

-

96,000

42,494,667

380,045

109,972

(44,077,370)

(1,092,686)
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The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes

2013

2012

$

$

Cash flows from operating activities
Payments to suppliers and employees

(615,745)

(703,413)

R&D Benefit

117,638

90,725

Interest and other costs of finance paid

(55,771)

(35,342)

(553,878)

(648,030)

(4,538)

(5,344)

(263,030)

(571,636)

14,732

2,663

(252,836)

(574,317)

509,500

858,000

Net cash used in operating activities

23(b)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for plant and equipment
Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of equity securities
Payment for share issue costs
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of lease liabilities
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign
currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

23(a)

(6,563)

(25,153)

304,890

283,353

(2,593)

(2,334)

-

(62,500)

805,234

1,051,366

(1,480)

(170,981)

(370,109)

(198,243)

(529)

(885)

(372,118)

(370,109)
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The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

General Information

Mount Burgess Mining NL (the Company) is a public company listed on Australian Securities Exchange (trading
under the symbol ‘MTB’) incorporated in Australia. The addresses of its registered office and principal place of
business are disclosed in the introduction to the annual report. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the Group) are described in Note 4.
2.

Significant Accounting Policies

2.1

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with
other requirements of the law.
The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards. Compliance with Australian Accounting
Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Group comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 27 September 2013.
2.2

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for
certain non-current assets and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair
values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless
otherwise noted.
2.2.1

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards
In the current year, the Company and the Group have adopted all of the new and revised
Standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB)
that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period.

2.2.2

Standards Affecting Presentation and Disclosure

MOUNT BURGESS MINING NL ANNUAL REPORT 2013

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed
below were in issue but not yet effective. Management is currently evaluating the impact that the
initial application of the following Standards and Interpretations will have on the financial report of
the consolidated entity
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Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or after

Expected to be
initially applied in the
financial year ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments (December
2010)’ AASB 2009-11 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 9 (December 2010)’ and AASB 20107 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December
2010)’

1 January 2015

30 June 2016

AASB
10
Statements’

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

AASB 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

AASB 12 ‘Disclosure of Interest in Other
Entities’

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

‘Consolidated

Financial

2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially applied in the financial year ending

AASB 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ and
AASB 2011-8 ‘Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ and AASB
2011-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119
(2011)’

1 January 2013

30 June 2014

AASB 2012-4 ‘Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards to Remove Individual
Key Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements (AASB 124 Amendments)’

1 July 2013

30 June 2014

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Going concern basis

The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal
business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.
The Consolidated Entity have incurred net losses before tax of $15,707,610 (2012: $1,199,803) and the Consolidated Entity experienced net cash outflows from operating and investing activities of $806,714 (2012: $1,222,347) for
the year ended 30 June 2013. As at 30 June 2013, the Consolidated Entity had a deficiency of current assets to
current liabilities of $1,593,694 (2012: $1,221,549).
As at 27 September 2013, the Consolidated Entity had total funds available of $13,232. As at that date the amount
owed to creditors (excluding amounts owed to Exchange Services Ltd and the Directors) was $100,365.
These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cause significant doubt about the Consolidated Entity’s
ability to continue as going concerns.
The ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue as going concerns and pay their debts as and when they fall due,
given the Consolidated Entity’s intended operational plans, assumes the following:
Utilisation of bank facilities of $415,000 as required, approximately $23,000 being available to draw down
at the date of this report.

b)

Continued financial support from Exchange Services Ltd (a company controlled by A P Stirling, a Director of
the Company) in that it will not call upon its loan to be repaid within the next 12 months, unless sufficient
funds are available to do so without affecting the Company’s going concern. At the date of this report the
Consolidated Entity has fully drawn down a £245,000 loan facility.

c)

Additional funding via capital raisings. Initial discussions have commenced with potential brokers.

d)

Active management of the current level of discretionary expenditure in line with the funds available to the
Company and Consolidated Entity.

e)

Continued financial support from the Directors of the Company. It has been confirmed that the loans of
$489,564 will not called upon to be repaid within the next 12 months, unless sufficient funds are available
to do so without affecting the Company’s going concern.

The directors are of the opinion that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate as they are
confident in the ability of the Consolidated Entity to be successful in securing additional funds through debt or
equity issues as and when the need to raise working capital arises.
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Notwithstanding this, as a junior explorer with start up projects and a dependency on continued support from
current financiers and on securing additional funding, should the Consolidated Entity be unable to secure
sufficient funding from the above, there is significant uncertainty whether the Company and Consolidated Entity
will be able to continue as going concerns.
Should the Consolidated Entity be unable to continue as going concerns, they may be required to realise their
assets and extinguish their liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at amounts different from
those stated in the financial report. The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts nor to the amounts and classification of liabilities that
may be necessary should the Consolidated Entity be unable to continue as going concerns.
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the
financial statements:
2.4

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Income and expense of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a
deficit balance.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit and loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in
the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.
2.5

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which
it relates.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to
extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity
instruments issued.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
2.6

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the costs of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred
2.7

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.
2.8

Earnings per share

2.8.1 Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:


The profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares



By the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

2.8.2

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:
The after income tax effect of interest and other financial costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares; and



The weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.9

Employee Benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long
service leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and that are capable of being
measured reliably.
Liabilities recognised in respect of short term employee benefits, are measured at their nominal values using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
Liabilities recognised in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.

25

MOUNT BURGESS MINING NL ANNUAL REPORT 2013



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.10 Exploration and expenditures

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate areas of interest are recognised as an
exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are
satisfied:
(i)

the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

(ii)

at least one of the following conditions is also met:


the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful
development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or



exploration and evaluation in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of
interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore,
studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation
and amortisation of assets used in exploration and evaluation activities. General and administration costs are
only included in measurement of exploration and evaluation costs when they are related directly to operational
activities in a particular area of interest.
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount of the exploration and evaluation asset (or the cash-generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated,
being no larger than the relevant area of interest) is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in previous years. Where a decision is made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of
interest, the relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then
reclassified to development.
2.11 Financial Assets

All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial
assets classified as fair value through profit and loss, which are initially measured at fair value.
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2.11.1

Effective Interest Method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
2.11.2

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets

Listed shares held by Group that are traded in an active market are classified as being available-for-sale and are
stated at fair value. Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices less costs to sell. Gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss and accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, which are recognised in profit or loss.
Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in the investments revaluation reserve is classified to profit or loss.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit and loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Loans and Receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
2.11.4

Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit and loss in the period.
With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impartment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the
extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
2.11.5

De-recognition of Financial Assets

The Group de-recognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
2.11.6

Investment in Subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are recognised in the parent entity’s financial statements at cost less any impairment
losses.
2.12 Financial Instruments Issued by the Company

2.12.1

Debt and Equity Instruments

2.12.2

Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of
the proceeds of the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are
incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been
incurred had those instruments not been issued.
2.12.3

Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
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Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangement. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.13 Foreign Currency Translation

The individual financial statements of each Group are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial
statements, the results and financial position of each group entity are expressed in Australian dollars (‘$’), which
is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except
for:


exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment
to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;



exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and



exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of partial disposal of the net investment.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into Australian dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity.
2.14 Goods and Services Tax and VAT
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Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:
(i)

where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)

for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
or payables.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified
within operating cash flows.
2.15 Government grants

Grants from government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants relating to the costs are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.16 Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

At the end of each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
2.17 Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
2.17.1

Current Tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
2.17.2

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all of part of the
asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they are related to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
2.17.3

Current and Deferred Tax for the Period

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit and loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.
2.18 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of
fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories by the method most appropriate to the
particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.
2.19 Jointly Controlled Assets

The proportionate interests in the assets of a joint venture activity have been incorporated in the financial
statements under the appropriate headings. Details of the joint venture are set out in note 21.
2.20 Leased Assets

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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2.20.1

Group as Lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit and loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.21 Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment and equipment under finance lease are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.
The cost of each item of plant and equipment is written off over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual
value. Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value or straight line basis. Each item’s economic life has due
regard to both its own physical limitations and to any present assessments of economically recoverable
resources of the mine property at which the item is located, and to possible future variations in those
assessments. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made annually, with the effect of any
changes recognised on a prospective basis. The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of
depreciation:
Plant, equipment and vehicles

2 - 15 years

Leased equipment and vehicles

3 - 5 years

Depreciation relating directly to plant and equipment utilised in exploration activities is allocated to particular
areas of interest and capitalised into the exploration and evaluation asset for that area.
2.22 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).
2.23 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
2.23.1

Dividend and Interest Revenue

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been
established (provided that it is probably that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably).

2.24 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocation resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the strategic steering committee.
2.25 Share-based Payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees granted are measured at fair value at the date of the grant.
Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model where Black-Scholes option pricing model has been used to
validate the valuation. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.
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Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

2.26 Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade
and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the
reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
3.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to
make judgements, estimates, and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical Judgements in applying the Entity’s Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements that management has made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
(a)

Going Concern
The Company does not have a sustainable income base from which it can fund its continual exploration
effort and resource development. Consequently, with regard to going concern, the Company is reliant
upon raising funds through equity issues or from the sale of assets to fund its ongoing exploration and
resource development. Alternatively, the Company can seek joint venture partners to fund exploration
and resource development on its behalf.

(b)

Commitments for Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure not provided for
The Company has expenditure commitments in relation to its various exploration licences and mining
leases. If any of these commitments fall into arrears through any funding inability, the Company has the
choice to seek joint venture partners to meet these commitments or apply for expenditure exemptions.
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(c)

Recovery of Capitalised Exploration Expenditure
The Company capitalises exploration expenditure incurred on ongoing projects. The recoverability of this
capitalised exploration expenditure is entirely dependent upon returns from the successful development
of mining operations or from surpluses from the sale of the projects or the subsidiary companies that
control the projects. At the point that it is determined that any capitalised exploration expenditure is
definitely not recoverable, it is written off.

4.

Segment Information

Mount Burgess Mining N.L. operates predominantly in one industry and two geographical segments being the
mineral exploration industry in Namibia and Botswana. The Company has identified its operating segments
based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (chief operation decision
makers) in assessing the performance and determining the allocation of resources. In Namibia the exploration
focus is on diamonds and base metals, including iron ore and rare earths. In Botswana the focus is on base
metals and diamond exploration.
As the Company is focused on mineral exploration, the Board monitors the company based on actual versus
budgeted exploration expenditure incurred by area of interest. This internal reporting framework is the most
relevant to assist the Board with making decisions regarding the Company and its ongoing exploration activities,
while also taking into consideration the results of exploration work that has been performed to date.
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Segment Information (Cont’d)

Segment information relating to the reportable segment being mineral exploration in Namibia and Botswana is
outlined below.
External Sales

Total

2013

2012

$

$

2013

2012
$

Segment Revenues
Namibia

-

-

-

-

Botswana

14,732

2,663

14,732

2,663

Total of all segments

14,732

2,663

14,732

2,663

-

-

14,732

2,663

Namibia - Impairment expense

(7,449,786)

(351,179)

Botswana - Impairment expense

(7,358,532)

Unallocated corporate revenue
Consolidated total revenue
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Segment Results

Botswana - Gain on disposal
Total of all segments
Unallocated corporate revenue

-

14,732

2,663

(14,793,58)

(348,516)

-

-

Unallocated corporate expenses

(914,024)

(942,012)

Loss before income tax expense

(15,707,610)

(1,290,528)

117,638

90,725

(15,589,972)

(1,199,803)

Income tax benefit / (expense)
Loss for the year
Segment Assets
Namibia

4,002

7,409,829

Botswana

502,654

7,627,945

Total of all segments

506,656

15,037,774

13,742

15,151

520,398

15,052,925

7,260

2,329

Botswana

25,482

23,751

Total of all segments

32,742

26,080

Unallocated corporate liabilities

1,580,342

1,218,486

Consolidated total liabilities

1,613,084

1,244,566

Unallocated corporate assets
Consolidated total assets
Segment Liabilities
Namibia

44,120

306,610

Botswana

244,460

298,283

Total of all segments

288,580

604,893

Namibia

Unallocated corporate
Consolidated total

3,451

5,177

292,031

610,070
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Acquisition of plant and equipment and exploration expenditure
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Segment Information (cont’d)
Total
2013

2012

$

$

Namibia

-

-

Botswana

-

-

Depreciation/amortisation included in segment result

Total of all segments

-

-

Unallocated corporate

5,519

4,553

Consolidated total

5,519

4,553

Namibia

7,449,786

351,179

Botswana

7,358,532

-

14,808,318

351,179

-

-

14,808,318

351,179

12,564

46,482

Impairment included in segment result

Total of all segments
Unallocated corporate
Consolidated total
Non cash expense other than depreciation / amortisation
Namibia

-

-

Total of all segments

12,564

46,482

Unallocated corporate

39,497

4,966

Consolidated total

52,061

51,448

Botswana

5.

Loss from Operations

Loss from operations before income tax expense includes the following items of revenue and expense:

(a)
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Defined contribution plans
Equity settled share based payments
Net foreign exchange loss / (gain)

-

-

14,732

2,663

528,070

533,132

34,753

32,845

-

4,600

37,506

(2,498)

28,236

25,368

455

714

55,148

35,223

83,839

61,305

14,808,318

351,179

Finance costs
Interest on bank overdrafts
Interest on obligations under finance lease
Interest on directors’ loan

(e)

$

Administration expenses include:
Salaries and wages

(d)

$

Other
Gain on disposal of motor vehicle

(c)

2012

Revenue
Interest – other entities

(b)

2013

Exploration interests written off

Write offs relate to areas which the directors have decided not to renew the right to explore or areas that were required
to be reduced in size under the relevant Mining Act. An amount of $7,358,532 has also been written off in respect of
the Kihabe-Nxuu Base Metals project on Prospecting Licence 69/2003. The renewal of PL 69/2003 was rejected in
May 2013. The Company has lodged a Notice of Motion in the High Court of Botswana for the rejection to be set aside.
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(f)

6.
(a)

Loss from Operations (cont’d)
2013

2012

Other expenses

$

$

Diesel written off

-

1,547

Depreciation of non current assets

3,418

906

Amortisation of leased assets

2,100

2,100

5,518

4,553

2013

2012

$

$

(117,638)

(90,725)

-

-

Income Taxes
Income tax expense
Income tax recognised in profit and loss
Tax expense / (income) comprises:
R&D Benefit
Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary

-

-

Total tax expense/(income)

(117,638)

(90,725)

Income tax expense/(income) attributable to loss from continuing operations

(117,638)

(90,725)

Benefits arising from previously unrecognised tax losses recognised
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The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting loss from operations reconciles to the income tax expense
as follows:
Loss of operations
Income tax expense calculated at 30% (2012: 30%)

(15,619,914)

(1,290,528)

(4,685,974)

(387,158)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/taxable in calculating taxable income:
4,442,271

245

28,800

1,380

Tax benefits not recognised

214,603

385,533

R&D Benefit

117,638

90,725

(117,638)

(90,725)

Non deductible expenses
Share based payments

Income tax expense/(benefit)

The income tax R&D benefit received amounting to $117,638 is a cash rebate from Australian Tax Office in respect of
research and development expenditure incurred during the year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: $90,725).

(b)

Deferred tax balances

Opening
Balance

Charged to
income

Charged to
equity

Closing
balance

$

$

$

$

Deferred tax assets /(liabilities) arise from the
following:
2013
Accruals
Provisions
Plant & equipment
Share issue expenses
Tax losses
Unrecognised temporary differences

6,000

-

-

6,000

17,669

8,265

-

25,934

(589)

(27)

-

(616)

14,400

-

1,972

16,372

129,091

4,416,187

-

4,542,278

(37,480)

(8,238)

(1,972)

(47,690)

129,091

4,416,187

-

4,545,278

129,091

4,416,187

-

4,545,278

129,091

4,416,187

-

4,545,278

-

-

-

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets – mineral exploration

Net deferred tax assets (not recognised)

-
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Gross deferred tax assets:
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6.

Income Taxes (cont’d)
Opening
Balance

Charged to
income

Charged to
equity

Closing
balance

$

$

$

$

2012
Gross deferred tax assets:
Accruals
Provisions
Plant & equipment
Share issue expenses
Tax losses
Unrecognised temporary differences

6,000

-

-

6,000

10,312

7,357

-

17,669

(277)

(312)

-

(589)

6,857

-

7,543

14,400

23,737

105,354

-

129,091

(22,892)

(7,045)

(7,543)

(37,480)

23,737

105,354

-

129,091

23,737

105,354

-

129,091

23,737

150,354

-

129,091

-

-

-

-

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Interest receivable on 11am account

Net deferred tax assets (not recognised)

Unrecognised Australian deferred tax assets

2013

2012

$

$

The following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets:
Tax losses
Temporary differences

7.

5,967,185

5,850,994

47,690

37,480

6,014,875

5,888,474

Trade and Other Receivables
2013
$
4,344

VAT/GST recoverable

8.

$
MOUNT BURGESS MINING NL ANNUAL REPORT 2013

$
5,015

Inventories
2013
75

Diesel at cost

9.

2012

Plant and Equipment at Cost

2012
$
310

Plant,
Equipment
& Vehicles

Leased
Equipment
& Vehicle

Total

$

$

$

Gross carrying amount
Balance as at 1 July 2011
Additions

902,525

27,931

5,344

-

930,456
5,344

(9,031)

-

(9,031)
926,769

898,838

27,931

Additions

4,538

-

4,538

Disposal

(38,663)

-

(38,663)

Balance as at 30 June 2013

864,713

27,931

892,644

Balance as at 1 July 2012
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Plant and Equipment at Cost (cont’d)

Plant,
Equipment
& Vehicles

Leased
Equipment
& Vehicle

Total

$

$

$

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
Balance as at 1 July 2011

856,880

21,455

878,335

Depreciation/amortisation expense

35,212

2,100

37,312

Disposal

(9,031)

-

(9,031)

883,061

23,555

906,616

Balance as at 1 July 2012
Depreciation/amortisation expense

13,122

2,100

15,322

Disposal

(38,663)

-

(38,663)

Balance as at 30 June 2013

857,620

25,655

883,275

As at 30 June 2012

15,777

4,376

20,153

As at 30 June 2013

7,093

2,276

9,369

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.

Net Book Value

Aggregate depreciation and amortisation allocated during the year
2013

2012

$

$

Plant, equipment and vehicles
Recognised as an expense

3,419

906

Capitalised as part of the carrying amount of exploration interests

9,803

34,706

Leased equipment and vehicles
2,100

2,100

15,322

37,712

2013

2012

$

$

Balance as at the start of the financial year

-

-

Write offs

-

-

Balance as at the end of the financial year

-

-

15,012,887

14,759,340

Recognised as an expense

10.

Exploration Interests

Tenement acquisition at cost

Exploration expenditure at cost
Additions

287,324

604,726

(14,808,31)

(351,179)

Balance as at the end of the financial year

491,893

15,012,887

Total Exploration Interests

491,893

15,012,887

Write offs - Note 5 (e)

During the last financial year, the amount spent on the Tsumkwe diamond and base metals project was written
off to reflect the potential non-recoverability of the exploration expenditure.
The ultimate recoupment of the value of assets is dependent upon their successful development and
commercial exploitation, or alternatively their respective sale for amount in excess of their current carrying
value.
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Balance as at the start of the financial year
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11.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables

2013

2012

$

$

168,179

109,871

Trade payables are non interest bearing and are normally settled on terms of 30 days from month end. Refer to note 24 for
information about the Group’s exposure to market and foreign exchange risk.

12.

Borrowings
2013

2012

$

$

Unsecured – at amortised cost
Loan from a director related company (i)

478,935

355,822

37,500

30,000

516,435

385,822

Bank overdrafts (iii)

386,835

384,669

Loan from a director (iv)

452,064

209,596

Loan from a director (ii)

Secured – at amortised cost

Finance lease liability (v) (Note 15)

Current
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Non–current (Note 15)

3,132

5,725

842,031

599,990

1,358,466

985,812

1,358,212

982,680

254

3,132

(i)

The loan from a director related company amounts to £245,000. Interest will accrue on the loan at the rate of 4%
above the Bank Bill Rate in Australia as from 1 July 2010 until the loan has been repaid in full.

(ii)

Interest is not payable on this loan.

(iii)

As at 30 June 2013 the Company had a Visa Credit card facility to the value of $10,000 (2012: $65,000) and an
overdraft facility to the value of $405,000 (2011: $400,000). These facilities are secured by a mortgage over a property
which belongs to one of the directors of the Company Mr N R Forrester. The interest rate on bank overdraft facility is
based on BMI rate plus a margin of 0.33% pa. No fees have been paid to Mr N R Forrester for providing his property
as a mortgage.

(iv)

Secured by a mortgage over a property which belongs to one of the directors of the Company Mr N R Forrester. The
loan incurs interest at 9.0% pa. No fees have been paid to Mr N R Forrester for providing his property as a mortgage.

(v)

Secured by the asset held. The interest rate on finance lease is 10.57% with repayment period of 5 years.
(2012:10.57%)

13.

Other Financial Liabilities
2013

2012

$

$

Other (i)

-

89,990

Current

-

89,990

Non-current

-

-

(i) Other financial liabilities in the last financial year represented the funds received from the share placement announced on
15 May 2012 where shares were allotted subsequent to the year end.
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Current Provisions

Employee entitlements

2013

2012

$

$

86,439

58,893

The current provision for employee entitlements includes accrued annual leave and long service leave. For long service leave
it covers all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required period of service and also those where
employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The entire amount of the provision is presented as
current, since the group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations.

15.

Obligations under Finance Lease
2013
$

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Less future finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.

2012
$

3,049

3,049

254

3,302

3,303

6,351

(171)

(626)

3,132

5,725

2,878

2,593

254

3,132

Included in the financial statements are:
- current borrowings
- non-current borrowings (Note 12)

Finance lease relates to a photocopying machine with a lease term of 5 years. The Group’s obligations under the finance
lease are secured by the lessor’s title to the lease asset.

16.

Issued Capital

862,838,602 fully paid ordinary shares (2012: 543,838,604)

2013

2012

$

$

42,494,667

41,805,740

2013

2012

2012

No.

$

No.

$

Balance at beginning of financial year

543,838,604

41,805,740

406,371,937

40,934,883

Share placements to professional investors

270,999,998

599,500

119,466,667

788,000

-

(6,573)

-

(25,143)

Fully paid ordinary share capital

Less costs
Issued of ordinary shares in lieu (i)

48,000,000

96,000

18,000,000

108,000

862,838,602

42,494,667

543,838,604

41,805,740

(i) Issue of ordinary shares in lieu of directors’ fees.
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16.

Issued Capital (cont’d)

At the General Meeting of shareholders held on 22 November 2012, approval was given for the issue of fully
paid ordinary shares in the Company in lieu of director fees and for a salary sacrifice as follows:
Name

Number of fully paid shares to be issued

Mr A P Stirling

$24,000 worth at 0.2 cents* =

12,000,000

Mr R W O’Regan

$24,000 worth at 0.2 cents* =

12,000,000

Mr G E Taylor

$12,000 worth at 0.2 cents* =

6,000,000

Mr B M Mosigi

$12,000 worth at 0.2 cents* =

6,000,000

Mr N R Forrester

$24,000 worth at 0.2 cents* =

12,000,000
48,000,000

*The fully paid shares to be issued are at the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the shares in the five ASX trading
days prior to issue..
The shares were granted for nil cash consideration, and no funds were raised. The shares were allotted on 19 December
2012.

17.

Reserves
2013
$

2012
$

Equity-settled employee benefits

380,045

380,045

Asset realisation reserve

109,972

109,972

490,017

490,017

2013

2012

$

$

Equity-settled employee benefits
Balance at beginning of financial year

380,045
-

4,600

380,045

380,045

Share based payments
Balance at end of financial year

375,445

The equity-settled employee benefits arise on the grant of share options to employees under the employee share option plan.
Further information about share-based payments to employees is made in Note 25 to the financial statements.
Asset realisation reserve represents realised benefits transferred from a previous asset revaluation reserve.
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18.

Accumulated Losses
2013

2012

$

$

Balance at beginning of financial year

(28,487,398)

(27,287,595)

Net loss

(15,589,972)

(1,199,803)

Balance at end of financial year

(44,077,370)

(28,487,398)

19.

Loss per Share

Basic loss per share
Diluted basic loss per share

40

2013

2012

Cents per
share

Cents per
share

(0.01)

(0.25)

N/A

N/A

Loss Per Share (cont’d)

The loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic and dilutive earnings
per share are as follows:
2013
$

2012
$

Net loss

(15,592,972)

(1,199,803)

Loss used in calculation of basic and dilutive EPS

(15,592,972)

(1,199,803)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic
earnings per share

2013

2012

No.

No.

739,043,625

487,984,494
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19.

The following potential ordinary shares are not dilutive as they would decrease the loss per share and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share:

Employee share options

2013

2012

No.

No.

13,850,000

16,350,000

There have been no conversions to, calls of, or subscriptions for ordinary shares or issues of potential ordinary shares since
the reporting date and before the completion of this financial report other than disclosed in subsequent events.

20.

Commitments for Expenditure

(a)

Exploration Commitments

The Group has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work on mineral licences held. These
obligations may vary over time, depending on the Group’s exploration programmes and priorities. As at
reporting date, total exploration expenditure commitments on tenements held by the Group have not
been provided for in the financial statements. The commitments, which cover the twelve month period,
amount to $145,000 (2012: $1,160,000). These obligations are also subject to variations by farm-out
arrangements or sale of the relevant licences.

Botswana

2012

$

$

(i)

42,000

400,000

(ii)

103,000

760,000

145,000

1,160,000

(i) Namibia In terms of the Minerals (Prospecting and Mining) Act of Namibia the Company has prescribed
annual expenditure estimates as proposed by it at the time of application or renewal of the various prospecting
licences which are held in Namibia. As at 30 June 2013 the Company had, since project commencement, exceeded
its cumulative annual expenditure commitments by $138,000.
(ii) Botswana The Company has a minimum annual expenditure estimates as proposed by it when applying for or
renewing licences in Botswana. The Company may from time to time notify the Minister of any amendments it
wishes to make to the proposed prospecting operations. The Minister has the discretion to suspend the obligation to
expend the estimated amount of moneys on the exploration licences.
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Namibia
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20.

Commitments for Expenditure (cont’d)

(b)

Operating Lease Commitments
2013
(i)

no later than 1 year

(ii)

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

2012

$

$

41,481

36,917

-

-

41,481

36,917

The above operating lease commitment is for the lease of the Company premises. The annual lease commitments are fixed and there are no contingent rental payments. The lease agreement contains an option to renew
the lease for 4 years. Refer to note 15 for finance lease obligations.

21.

Jointly Controlled Assets

The Company had an interest in the following jointly controlled assets as at the 30 June 2013:
(a)

a joint venture, known as the Tsumkwe Joint Venture, with Kimberlite Resources Pty Ltd, for the
exploration and development of mines on Exclusive Prospecting Licences 2012, 2014, 2817, 2818, 2819,
3019 and 3020 in Namibia, where the Company held 90% and Kimberlite Resources Pty Ltd held 10%.
These prospecting licences have now expired.

(b)

Prospecting Licence 4619 which is current, is held 85% by the Company and 15% by local inhabitants.

The capital commitments arising from the Company’s interests in these joint venture operations are disclosed in
Note 20(a).
The following amounts represent the Group’s interest in assets employed in the above joint venture. The
amounts are included in the financial statements under their respective asset categories.
2013

2012

$

$

Cash assets

1,031

1,313

Receivables

1,818

1,528

Total Current Assets

2,849

2,841

Exploration interests

1,153

6,320,291

Plant and equipment

-

-

Total Non Current Assets

1,153

6,320,291

Total Assets

4,002

6,323,132

Current Assets
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Non Current Assets

22.

Controlled Entities
Ownership Interest (%)
Country of Incorporation

2013

2012

Namibia

100%

100%

Botswana

100%

100%

Parent Entity
Mount Burgess Mining N.L.

Australia

Controlled Entity
MTB (Namibia) (Proprietary) Ltd
Mount Burgess (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd
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Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a)

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash and cash
equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement are reconciled to the
related items in the balance sheet as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdraft

(b)

Reconciliation of Loss for the Period to the Net Cash
Flows from Operating Activities:
Loss for the year
Depreciation
Amortisation
Write off of exploration and development expenditure
Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/ loss on loan
Gain in disposal of motor vehicle
Net exchange differences
Equity settled expenses

2013

2012

$

$

14,717

14,560

(386,835)

(384,669)

(372,118)

(370,109)

2013

2012

$

$

(15,589,972)

(1,199,803)

3,418

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.

906

2,100

2,100

14,808,318

351,179

40,123

2,133

(14,732)

(2,663)

529

885

96,000

112,600

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in trade receivables

(694)

(1,142)

Increase / (decrease) in trade payables

45,418

35,293

Increase / (decrease) in borrowings

28,068

25,962

Increase in provision for employee entitlements

27,546

24,520

(553,878)

(648,030)

Net cash flows from operations

(c)

Financing Facilities

As at reporting date the Company had a Visa Card credit facility to the value of $10,000 (2012: $65,000),
an overdraft facility to the value of $405,000 (2012: $400,000) and indemnity / guarantee facility of
$8,000 (2012: $18,300). At balance date the total amount unused for all facilities was $23,000 (2012:
$80,000).
24.

Financial Instruments

(a)

Significant Accounting Policies

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives

Note 24 (c), (d), (e) (f) (g) and (h) present information about the Group’s exposure to credit, liquidity and
market risks, their objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
management of capital.
The Group does not use any form of derivatives as it is not at a level of exposure that requires the use of
derivatives to hedge its exposure. Exposure limits are reviewed by management on a continuous basis.
The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivatives financial instruments,
for speculative purposes.
The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk
management framework. Management monitors and manages the financial risk relating to the operations
of the Group through regular reviews of the risks.
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Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted including the criteria for recognition, the
basis of measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each
class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial
statements. No financial derivative instruments were in place at year end.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24.

Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(c)

Interest Rate Risk Management - Cash Flow

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk (primarily on its cash and cash equivalents and variable rate
borrowings), which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in the
market interest rates on interest-bearing financial instruments. The Group does not use derivatives to
mitigate these exposures.
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing financial
instruments was:
Weighted average
effective interest
rate

2013

2012

%

$

$

Non-interest bearing
Financial assets

-

18,030

18,262

Financial liabilities

-

205,679

139,871

223,709

158,133

-

-

-

8.67%

919,323

625,347

919,323

625,347

1.50%

1,046

1,333

9%-10.57%

520,459

386,672

521,505

388,005

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable
rate instruments at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.
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If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all other variables constant, the Group’s:


(d)

Loss for the year ended 30 June 2013 would decrease/increase by $4,338 (2012: decrease/increase
by $3,709). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Company monitors relevant rates of exchange on a daily basis to
determine as best as possible the more advantageous rates at which to transfer funds to overseas
accounts.
The Group has not entered into any derivative financial instruments to hedge such transactions.
The Group is exposed to currency risk, however at reporting date the Group holds insignificant amounts
of financial assets or liabilities which are exposed to foreign currency risk.
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Financial Instruments (cont’d)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Liabilities
GBP

(e)

Assets

2013

2012

2013

2012

245,000

225,000

-

-

Sensitivity Analysis

A 10 percent strengthening of the Australian dollar against the following currency as at 30 June would
have increased (decreased) equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2012.
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24.

GBP impact
Profit or loss

2013

2012

40,820

34,589

A 10 percent weakening of the Australian dollar against the above currencies at 30 June would have had
the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amount shown above, on the basis that all
other variables remain constant.
(f)

Credit Risk Management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted the policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties
and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of
financial loss from defaults. The Company measures credit risk on a fair value basis.
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to a single counterparty or any group of
counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for
losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of
any collateral or other security obtained.
Non-trade receivables from wholly owned controlled entities are assessed for impairment by reference to
any future prospects in relation to development of the tenements.
(g)

Net Fair Value

(h)

Liquidity Risk Management

Ultimate responsibility of liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which continually
monitors the Company’s future funding plans. Future funding plans are subject to change, according to
prevailing and anticipated market conditions determining the ease at which further funding capital can be
raised. Capital raisings are planned at times that the Company still holds adequate cash resources or
has in place banking and resource borrowing facilities.
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The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements
represents their respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies
disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.
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24.

Financial Instruments (cont’d)

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and
excluding the impact of netting agreements:
Weighted average
effective interest
rate

Less than 1
year

1-5 years

Total

%

$

$

$

205,679

-

205,679

10.57

3,182

281

3,463

8.78

1,436,600

-

1,436,600

1,645,461

281

1,645,742

109,871

-

109,871

10.57

2,867

3,463

6,330

8.78

1,066,152

-

1,066,152

1,178,890

3,463

1,182,353

30 June 2013
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liability
Variable interest rate instruments
30 June 2012
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liability
Variable interest rate instruments

The following table details the Company’s expected maturity of its non-derivative financial assets. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned
on those assets. The inclusion of information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to
understand the Company’s liquidity risk management as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability
basis.
Consolidated

Weighted average
effective interest
rate

Less than 1
year

1-5 years

Total

%

$

$

$

18,030

-

18,030

30 June 2013
Non interest bearing
Variable rate instruments

1.50

1,046

-

1,046

19,076

-

19,076

18,262

-

18,262

1,333

-

1,333

19,595

-

19,595

30 June 2012
Non interest bearing
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Variable rate instruments

(i)

1.50

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that companies in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt to equity
balance. The Group’s focus has been to raise sufficient funds through equity to fund exploration
activities.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2012. Risk management policies and procedures
are established with regular monitoring and reporting.
The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in Notes
16, 17 and 18 respectively. The Group operates in Australia, Namibia and Botswana. None of the
Group’s companies are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the Group’s operations.
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Share-Based Payments

Employee Share Option Plan

On 30 July 2010, the Company introduced a new Employee Share Option Plan 2010 as approved by
shareholders to reward past services and contributions of Eligible Employees and also to assist in the
recruitment, retention, incentive and motivation of Eligible Employees of the Company. Employee share options
carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. In accordance with the terms of the Employee Share Option
Plan all options, including any issued during the year ended 30 June 2012, vest in the option holder at the date
of their issue and may be exercised at any time from the date of their issue to the date of their expiry. No
amounts are paid by the recipient on receipt of the option. Each share option converts to one ordinary share of
Mount Burgess Mining N.L. on exercise. The exercise price of the options issued to date is 5 cents.

2013

Weighted
Average
exercise price

2012

Weighted
Average
exercise price

No.

$

No.

$

16,350,000

0.05

16,350,000

0.05

500,000

0.05
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25.

Employee share option plan
Balance at the start of the year (i)
Granted during the year
Terminated during the year (ii)

(2,500,000)

0.05

(500,000)

0.05

Balance at the end of the year (iii)

13,850,000

0.05

16,350,000

0.05

(i)

Balance at the beginning of the Year

Issued 17 September 2010
Issued 04 October 2010

Fair Value
at grant
date

No.

Grant Date

Expiry Date

Exercise
Price
$

$

12,000,000

17/09/10

31/12/15

0.05

0.004

3,600,000

04/10/10

31/12/15

0.05

0.004

Issued 16 November 2010

250,000

16/11/10

31/12/15

0.05

Issued 1 September 2011

500,000

01/09/2011

31/12/2016

0.05

0.012
0.009

16,350,000

Issued 4 October 2010
Issued 17 September 2010

2013

2012

No.

No.

500,000

500,000

2,000,000

-

2,500,000

500,000
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(ii) Terminated During The Year

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25.

Share-Based Payments (cont’d)

On 30 July 2010, the Company introduced a new Employee Share Option Plan governed by the following terms
and conditions:
(a)

each option will be issued free of consideration;

(b)

the Options shall not be transferred or assigned by the holder provided that the holder shall be at
liberty at any time to transfer all or any of his or her Options to his or her wife or husband
respectively or to a proprietary limited company all the issued shares of which are beneficially
owned by the holder and his or her wife or husband or any other nominee of the Eligible Employee,
provided that any such transferee first undertakes to the Company, in a deed, not to transfer or
assign such Options until such time as they are exercised;

(c)

each Option will entitle the holder to subscribe for one share at an exercise price;

(d)

the Options expire at 5.00pm on 31 December of the year five (5) years from the year of grant;

(e)

the Options are exercisable wholly or in part by forwarding to the Company an “Option Exercise
Form”, accompanied by payment of the exercise price;

(f)

the Options are exercisable at any time on or prior to the Expiry Date;

(g)

there are no participating rights or entitlements inherent in the Options and holders will not
participate in any new issue of capital offered to shareholders during the currency of the Options;

(h)

shares issued on the exercise of Options will rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary share
capital;

(i)

an Option’s terms must not prevent the Option being reorganised as required by the Listing Rules
on a reorganisation of capital;

(j)

the Company shall grant the Options and deliver the certificates relating to the Options to the
Eligible employee within ten (10) business days of the Application Date.

Status of the Options

Any options issued under this plan will not be listed on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited for official
quotation.

MOUNT BURGESS MINING NL ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Only upon exercise of the Options issued under the plan will the Company make application to the Australian
Securities Exchange Limited for the quotation of the shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Options.
As of the date of this report 16,350,000 options with an expiry date 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016
were issued. None of these have yet been exercised.
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Share-Based Payments (cont’d)

(iii)

Balance at the end of the Year
Fair Value
at grant
date

No.

Grant Date

Expiry Date

Exercise
Price
$

$

10,000,000

17/09/10

31/12/15

0.05

0.004

3,100,000

04/10/10

31/12/15

0.05

0.004

Issued 16 November 2010

250,000

16/11/10

31/12/15

0.05

0.012

Issued 1 September 2011

500,000

01/09/11

31/12/16

0.05

0.009

Issued 17 September 2010
Issued 04 October 2010
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25.

13,850,000

Share options outstanding at the end of the financial year had an exercise price of $0.05 (2012: $0.05)
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.53 years (2012: 3.53 years).
Consideration received on the exercise of employee share options is recognised in contributed equity.
The weighted average fair value of the share options granted during the financial year is $Nil (2012:
$0.009). Options were priced using a binomial option pricing model and Black Scholes option pricing
model has been used to validate the valuation. Where relevant, the expected life used in the model has
been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions (including the probability of meeting market conditions attached to the option), and
behavioural considerations. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the
past 3 years.

Inputs into the model for issues made

2012
Issue date

01 Sep 12

Grant share data price

$0.012

Exercise price

$0.05

Expected volatility

130%

Option life

5 years

Dividend yield

Nil
4.03%

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

Options issued under employee option plan

2013

2012

$

$

-

4,600
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Risk-free interest rate

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.

Related Party Disclosures

(a)

Equity Interest in Related Parties

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 22 to the financial
statements.
(b)

Key Management Personnel Compensation

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
The aggregate compensation made to the directors and other key management personnel of the
Company and Group is set out below:
Consolidated
2013
Short term employee benefits (including annual leave accrued)
Post employment benefits

$

$

196,985

454,887

15,564

33,564

6,641

10,341

96,000

108,000

315,190

606,792

Other long term benefits – long service leave accrued
Share based payment

(c)

2012

Key Management Personnel Equity Holdings of Mount Burgess Mining NL

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Balance at
1 July

Granted as
compensation

Off market
purchased
during the
year

Balance at
30 June

Balance
held
nominally

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

17,875,367

12,000,000

-

29,875,367

-

B Mosigi

3,000,000

6,000,000

-

9,000,000

-

G E Taylor1

8,835,574

6,000,000

-

14,835,574

-

R W O’Regan

11,773,530

12,000,000

-

23,773,530

-

A P Stirling

26,443,530

12,000,000

-

38,443,530

-

Total

67,928,001

48,000,000

-

115,928,001

-

12,705,367

4,000,000

1,170,000

17,875,367

-

B Mosigi

1,000,000

2,000,000

-

3,000,000

-

G E Taylor

4,835,574

4,000,000

-

8,835,574

-

2013
N R Forrester

2012
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N R Forrester

R W O’Regan

7,773,530

4,000,000

-

11,773,530

-

A P Stirling

22,443,530

4,000,000

-

26,443,530

-

Total

48,758,001

18,000,000

1,170,000

67,928,001

-

1
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Resigned from Board on 20 June 2012

Related Party Disclosures (cont’d)
Employee Share Options of Mount Burgess Mining NL

Balance
at 30 June

Balance
vested &
exercisable
at 30 June

Options
vested
during Year

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

10,000,000

-

-

10,000,000

10,000,000

-

N R Forrester

2,000,000

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

M B Mosigi

2,000,000

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

G E Taylor

2,000,000

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

R W O’Regan

2,000,000

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

A P Stirling

2,000,000

-

-

2,000,000

2,000,000

-

10,000,000

-

-

10,000,000

10,000,000

-

Balance
at 1 July

Granted as
Remuneration

Net other
Change

N R Forrester

2,000,000

-

M B Mosigi

2,000,000

G E Taylor1

2,000,000

R W O’Regan
A P Stirling

2013
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26.

2012

1

Resigned from Board on 20 June 2012

On 23 July 2010, the Company terminated the Employee Share Options Plan introduced in 2000. Please
refer to Note 25.
All options once granted vest in the option holder at the date of their issue and may be exercised at any
time from the date of their issue to the date of their expiry. Any share options issued to a director during
the financial year were made in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Share Option Plan.
No amounts are payable by the recipient of the option. Each option is exercisable at 5 cents. No options
were exercised during the year.

(d)

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel (and their Related Parties) of Mount
Burgess Mining N.L.

During the year the Company received a loan amounting to $7,500 (2012: to £20,000 equivalent to
$30,000) from Mr Ronald O’Regan, a director of the Company. Interest is not payable on this loan.
During the year the Company received a loan amounting to $240,000 (2012: $107,500) from Nigel and
Jan Forrester. Mr Nigel Forrester is a Director of the Company. Interest will accrue on the loan at the rate
of 9% pa.
(e)

Transactions with Subsidiary

All loans advanced to and payable to MTB (Namibia) (Pty) Ltd and Mount Burgess (Botswana)
(Proprietary) Limited are interest free, unsecured and subordinate to other liabilities.
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During the year the Company received a loan amounting to £40,000 equivalent to $57,390 (2012:
£55,000 equivalent to $86,755) from Exchange Services Limited. Mr A P Stirling is a Director of
Exchange Services Limited and a Director of the Company. Interest will accrue on the loan at the rate of
4% above the Bank Bill Rate in Australia as from 1 July 2010 until the loan has been repaid in full.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.

Related Party Disclosures (cont’d)

(f)

Parent Entity

The parent entity in the Group is Mount Burgess Mining N.L. Equity interests in controlled entities are
disclosed in Note 22. The Company’s bank overdraft facility is secured by a property belonging to Nigel
Forrester who is a Director of the Company.

27.

Remuneration of Auditors
2013

2012

$

$

30,000

30,000

Auditor of the parent entity
Auditing of the financial report
The auditor of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. is BDO (2012: BDO).

28.

Subsequent Events

On 9 July 2013, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Mount Burgess (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited
(MBB) received a letter from the Minister of Minerals, Energy and Water Resources (MMEWR) rejecting MBB’s
appeal lodged with the Vice President on 6 June 2013. MBB appealed against the decision by MMEWR not to
renew its prospecting licence PL69/2003.
On 1 August 2013, the Company received an additional loan of $60,000 from N.R Forrester, a Director of the
Company.
On 13 August 2013, the Company announced that MBB had commenced legal proceedings against MMEWR in
respect of the non-renewal of PL69/2003. Funding of the litigation was agreed to be undertaken by Mr A P
Stirling a Director of the Company.
On 16 August, the Company received further loan funds from NR and JE Forrester amounting to $20,000.
On 29 August, 2013, the Company received further loan funds from Mr RW O’Reagan amounting to $5,000.
On 5 September 2013, the Company received $11,000 through share placement of 13,750,000 shares.
On 24 September 2013, the Company received $8,000 through a share placement of 10,000,000 shares.
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On 27 September 2013, a Notice of Motion was filed by MBB (The Applicant) in the High Court of Botswana and
the Attorney General of Botswana (The Respondent) for an order in the following terms:
(a)

That the Respondent’s decision to reject the application for renewal of Prospecting Licence PL69/2003 be and is
hereby set aside;

(b)

The Respondent is ordered to grant such application forthwith;

(c)

In the event of the Respondent opposing this application it pays the costs thereof.

Other than the above, there have not been any matters or circumstances occurring subsequent to the end of the
financial year that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the result
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

29.

Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at reporting date there are no known contingent assets and liabilities.
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Parent Entity Disclosures

(a)

Financial Position
2013

2012

$

$

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets

5,046

4,248

8,721

7,782,941

13,767

7,787,189

1,580,088

1,215,354

Liabilities
Current liabilities

279

3,157

1,580,367

1,218,511

(1,566,600)

6,568,678

42,494,667

41,805,740

490,017

490,017

Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net Assets

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30.

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

(b)

(44,551,284)

(35,727,079)

(1,566,600)

6,568,678

2013

2012

$

$

(8,824,205)

(811,629)

Financial Performance

Loss for the year

-

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss

(c)

(8,824,205)

(811,629)

Guarantees entered into by the Parent Entity in relation to the Debts of its Subsidiaries

As at reporting date there are no known guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the
debts of its subsidiaries.
Contingent Liabilities of the Parent Entity

As at reporting date there are no known contingent liabilities of the parent entity.
(e)

Commitments of the Parent Entity

The commitments of the parent entity have been disclosed in Note 20 (b).
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(d)

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

Directors’ Declaration
In the Directors’ opinion:

(a)

the financial statements and notes set out on pages 17 to 53 are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:
(i) complying with the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements, and
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date, and

(b)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable, and

Note 2.1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295 (5) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

N R Forrester
CHAIRMAN and MANAGING DIRECTOR
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Perth, 27 September 2013
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Tel: +8 6382 4600
Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

INDEPENDENT AUDITR’S REPORT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of Mount Burgess Mining N.L.

Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Mount Burgess Mining N.L., which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the
company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In Note 2, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been
given to the directors of Mount Burgess Mining N.L., would be in the same terms if given to the directors as
at the time of this auditor’s report.
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd ABN 77 050
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation (other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than Tasmania.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the financial report of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2013
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b)

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed
in Note 2.

Emphasis of Matter
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial report, which indicates
that the ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the future
successful raising of necessary funding through equity and continued financial support from the Directors of the Company. These conditions, along with other matters as set out in Note 2, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the consolidated entity may be unable to realise
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business at the value carried in the statement of financial position.
Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30
June 2013. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards.
Opinion
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In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Mount Burgess Mining N.L. for the year ended 30 June
2013 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Brad McVeigh
Director
Perth, 27 September 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance
Corporate Governance Policy
Role of the Board and Directors

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company which it
endeavours to conduct at all times, where possible, in accordance with the ASX Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations. The Board determines and monitors on behalf of shareholders the day to
day business and affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. In accordance with the determination of the
Board, Senior Management/Executives has/have the actual responsibility of conducting the day to day business
of the Company. The responsibility for the day to day business and affairs of the Company are as delegated
and outlined below.

Board

Senior Management/
Executives

Overseeing the Group, including its control and accountability systems





Monitoring and guiding the Group in accordance with its planned and
approved strategic direction and required performance.





Approving and monitoring the Group’s budgets.





Reporting to shareholders and authorities, as required, on the performance
and state of the Company.





Approving and monitoring the progress of capital management, capital
expenditure, acquisitions and divestments;





Continually monitoring and implementing the Group’s systems of internal
compliance and control, risk management and legal compliance and
ensuring the integrity and effectiveness of those systems;





Approving and monitoring financial and other reporting, including reporting to
shareholders, the Australian Securities Exchange and other authorities as
required.





Appointing and removing the Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary
and Chief Financial Officer;



Selecting and ratifying the appointment of senior management



Monitoring senior management’s performance



Ensuring that the remuneration and conditions of service are appropriate to
attract and retain required senior management; and



Establishing and monitoring succession planning for the Board and senior
management.



Day to Day Business Responsibilities
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The process of evaluating the performance of Board members and senior executives, in respect of the duties
which they are required to perform, within the capacity for which they are engaged, is conducted on an ongoing
basis. The Company is of the size where this process can be conducted satisfactorily without having to engage
in evaluation regimes to determine states of performance. Any unsatisfactory states of performance are dealt
with accordingly.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Director Independence

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2.1
The ASX Best Practice Recommendations maintain that directors are considered to be independent if they are
not major shareholders, are independent of management and are free from any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with their exercise of free and independent judgement. ASX Corporate
Governance Principles and Recommendations 2.1 recommends that the Board should comprise a majority of
independent directors.
The Board was made up of two independent and two non-independent directors. Because of the size of the
Company, a majority of executive directors may occur where the direction of the Company requires additional
executive expertise. For commercial reasons, the Company will not necessarily appoint additional nonexecutive directors simply for the purpose of maintaining a majority of independent non-executive directors on
the Board. Refer to ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2.6 for Directors’ status of
independence.
Role of Chairman

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2.2 and 2.3
The ASX Best Practice Recommendations 2.2 and 2.3 maintain that the Chairman should be an Independent
Director and that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same
individual.
Mr Forrester, engaged in the role of Managing Director is not, therefore, considered to be independent in his role
as Chairman. For the sake of preserving administrative costs Mr Forrester is currently filling the role of both
Chairman and Managing Director.
Nomination Committee

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2.4
The ASX Best Practice Recommendation 2.4 maintains that the Board should establish a nomination committee
to assess the competencies of Directors, review Board succession plans, evaluate the performance of the Board
and the appointment and re-election of Directors.
Because of its size the Company does not have an independent Nomination Committee. Any relevant matters
to be dealt with are dealt with by the Board as a whole.
Process of Evaluating the Performance of the Board

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2.5
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The ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendation 2.5 maintains that the performance of the
Board should be reviewed regularly in respect of:


Participation of all Board members in Board decision making



Having access to relevant information for the purpose of decision making



Communications with the Company Secretary

The Company is of the size where all members of the Board are updated on a regular basis, both telephonically
and by way of update reports, in respect of the ongoing operations of the Company. In order to eliminate high
travel costs involved for the overseas directors to be present in Australia for meetings, the majority of the
Company’s Board Meetings are held telephonically. Any abnormal situations are reported and discussed in a
timely manner. Specific requests for information are responded to as soon as possible. Monthly financial
statements are circularised to all members of the Board and all members of the Board are free to communicate
with the Joint Company Secretaries.
Twenty-nine Board meetings were held during the year.
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ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2.6
The Company’s Constitution requires a minimum of three Directors. This number can be increased in
accordance with the requirements of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Composition of the Board

The names of the Directors of the Company at the date of this report are as follows :

Director Name

Director Role

Appointed

Retiring at
2013 AGM

Seeking
Re-election at
2013 AGM

Nigel Raymond Forrester

Chairman and Managing Director

1985

No

-

Molatlhegi Benjamin Mosigi

Technical Director Exploration

2009

No

No

Ronald William O’Regan

Non Executive Director

2000

Alfred Patrick Stirling

Non Executive Director

2003

Deceased 2 September 2013
Yes

Yes

The Company maintains a mix of Directors from different backgrounds with complementary skills and
experience. The skills, experience and expertise of the current Directors of the Company are outlined in the
Directors’ Report on Page 6.
The executive Directors of the Company are Mr Forrester, Chairman and Managing Director and Mr Mosigi,
Technical Director, Exploration.
Non-executive Director of the Company, Mr A P Stirling may be considered under ASX Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations 2.1 to be independent as:


He has a contractual relationship with the Company other than as a Director.

Regarding the Board’s policy for the nomination and appointment of Directors, it reviews its composition on a
continual basis to ensure that an appropriate mix of skills, experience, expertise and diversity is brought to the
Board.
Except for the Managing Director, all Directors appointed to the Board are subject to election by shareholders,
initially at the Annual General Meeting following their appointment and thereafter every three years.

Independent Professional Advice for Board Members
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Any member of the Board of Directors is entitled to take independent professional advice at the expense of the
Company. However, in so doing the Board must reasonably consider any request for any such expenses to be
borne by the Company and meet any such expenses where relevant to the business of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Promote ethical and responsible decision making

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 3

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct
Regarding the Company’s Code of Conduct, the Board of the Company endeavours to engage fellow Board
Members, Senior Management and Employees of high ethical standard. As the Company is engaged in
operations in countries outside Australia it engages a high proportion of local senior management and
employees to achieve familiar compliance with local laws and customs. At the same time the Company requires
compliance with legal and operational procedures relative to Australia. Any divergence from the standard of
ethics required is dealt with in accordance with the laws and procedures as laid down in the countries in which
the Company operates.
The Code of Conduct includes but is not necessarily limited to such issues as accountability, dealing with
concern, violation of Company policies and standards, treatment of Company personnel and co-workers,
confidentiality, personal information and intellectual property, misuse of Company assets and resources, fraud
and theft, bribery and corruption, alcohol and drug abuse, use of Company information systems, respect for host
country’s laws etc.
3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a summary of
that policy. The policy should include requirements for the board to establish measureable objectives
for achieving gender diversity and for the board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in
achieving them.
Mount Burgess Mining and its subsidiaries have always been committed to workplace diversity. It is an equal
opportunity employer and recognizes the benefits arising from diversity in the workplace throughout its
workforce.
Full details of the Company’s diversity policy can be found on the Company website – www.mountburgess.com
3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the measureable objectives for achieving gender
diversity set by the board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress in achieving them.
The Board believes that at this stage in its development it is not of sufficient size to justify the development and
monitoring of measurable objectives and strategies of its Diversity Policy.
3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of women employees in the whole
organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the board.
Ms Serene Chau and Ms J Forrester are senior executives in the Company and they fulfil the following roles:
Mount Burgess Mining NL
Joint Company Secretary

Ms S Chau and Ms J Forrester

Chief Financial Accountant

Ms S Chau
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Mount Burgess (Botswana) Pty Ltd
Director

Ms S Chau

Director

Ms J Forrester

MTB Namibia (Pty) Ltd
Director

Ms S Chau

Director

Ms J Forrester

The following table shows the proportional representation of women at various levels within the Company's
workforce in 2012:
Directors of Holding Company

Nil

Role

Directors of Subsidiary Companies
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Botswana

40%

Namibia

50%

Non-executive directors

Nil

Senior executives

50%

Other

66.6%

Total in the whole organization

4

Explanations of the Company’s compliance with, and departures from, the ASX’s Principles and
Recommendations 3.1 through to 3.4 have been detailed in the sections above.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3.

Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4
The ASX Best Practice Recommendation 4 is in relation to the establishment of an audit committee. Because of
its size, the Company does not have a separate Audit Committee. Any controls required to be introduced,
monitored or reviewed are done so by the five Directors who currently comprise the Board.
Make timely and Balanced Disclosure

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 5.1 and 5.2
As a public exploration company, listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, the Company adopts the policy
of strict adherence to the ASX Listing Rules and requirements under the Corporations Act in respect of
responsible, timely, balanced and factual continuous disclosure requirements, for the purpose of keeping the
market fully informed in respect of price sensitive information.
The Managing Director is responsible for determining what amounts to price sensitive information and in so
doing may seek legal advice or advice from the Board.
Draft announcements are prepared for review by either administrative or geological staff or geological
consultants, dependant upon the type of announcement to be made.
Price sensitive information for this Company would normally include:


Significant exploration results, resource/reserve results or mining results. All such results are
reported in compliance with the JORC Code and only released with the approval of relevant qualified
personnel.



Changes to the Company’s Board of Directors or Auditors



Changes to the Company’s issued share capital through capital raisings



Changes to the Company’s Directors’ shareholdings



The acquisition or disposal of exploration areas and resources/reserves



The formation of joint ventures

All price sensitive announcements are posted to the Company’s website as soon as possible after the
announcements have been released to the market by the ASX.

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 6.1 and 6.2
The Company’s auditors will be available at the Company’s Annual General Meeting to answer any shareholder
queries relating to the audit of the Company’s Annual Report.
It is the Company’s policy to ensure that a full review of the Company’s operations will be presented following
the Company’s Annual General Meeting and that its website, www.mountburgess.com is regularly updated
with all Securities Exchange announcements including its Annual and Quarterly Reports. Beneficial owners who
request the Company to automatically provide them with any announcements can receive such information by
electronic means.
Significant group briefings and presentations are posted to the Company’s website and are accessible to all
shareholders in advance of such briefings/presentations.
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Respect the rights of shareholders

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Recognition and Management of Risk

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 and 7.4
The Company recognises that there are inherent risks in being involved in the resource exploration industry and
operating in non-domicile countries. The policy of the Board is to monitor and if considered necessary, seek
advice on areas of operational and financial risk and implement strategies for appropriate risk management
arrangements.
Specific areas of risk, which are regularly considered at Board Meetings, include expenditure levels relative to
exploration success, going concern, foreign currency and commodities price fluctuations, performance of
activities, human resources, the environment, land access, political instability and internal control. With regard
to internal control the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer are required to certify to the Board that:



The Company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of
the financial condition and operational results of the Company and Group and are in accordance with
relevant accounting standards; and



That the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance
and control and which implements the policies adopted by the Board and that the Company’s risk
management and internal compliance and control is operating efficiently and effectively in all respects.

The financial reports of the Company are produced in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Urgent
Issues Group Consensus Views, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accountings Standards
Board and the Corporations Act and in many cases exceed the disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act
and the Australian Accounting Standards Board Policy 1434. The financial statements and reports are subject
to review of every half year and the auditor issues an audit opinion accompanying the full year results for each
financial year.
Remunerate fairly and responsibly

ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 8.1, 8.2 and 8.3
ASX Corporate Governance Principle 8.1 advises that the Board should establish a remuneration committee.
Because of its size the Company does not have a separate remuneration committee.
The Board, as a whole, reviews the remuneration packages and policies applicable to executive Directors,
senior executives and non-executive Directors on an annual basis. Remuneration levels will be realistically and
competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced Directors and senior executives. Where
necessary the board will obtain independent advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages.
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Executive Directors receive a salary and share options. Non-Executive Directors normally receive a set fee per
annum and share options and are fully reimbursed for any out of pocket expenses necessarily incurred in
carrying out their duties.
Because of the difficulty of raising funds as an exploration company, under the current global economic
conditions, the non-executive directors of the Company have volunteered to waive their fees for the time being
and the Managing Director of the Company has not taken the salary increase as recommended by the Board at
the last salary review.
ASX Corporate Governance Principle 8.2 recommends that Non-executive directors should not receive options
or bonus payments. The Company does not comply with this recommendation as it grants options to all nonexecutive Directors in recognition of the significant time they contribute to the Company. The non-executive
directors are often called upon to perform duties for the Company overseas or spend considerable time away
from their earning base to represent the Company. Their fees for these duties (currently waived) in no way
cover what they could otherwise earn. The options granted are exercisable at a significant premium to the
current share price.
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Securities Information
The information set out below was applicable as at 18 September 2013.
1.

Distribution of Equity Securities and Voting Rights:

(a)

Distribution of Shareholders of Ordinary shares:No. of Holders
1 - 1,000

201

1,001 - 5,000

476

5,001 - 10,000

341

10,001 - 100,000

835

100,001 and over
Total No. of Shareholders

439
2292

(b)

Each shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy, attorney or representative. On a show
of hands, every person present who is a shareholder or a proxy, attorney or representative of a
shareholder has one vote. On a poll, every person present who is a shareholder or a proxy, attorney or
representative of a shareholder shall, in respect of each fully paid share held by him, or in respect of
which he is appointed a proxy, attorney or representative, have one vote for the share.

(c)

There existed 2,081 shareholders who held less than a marketable parcel of shares.

(d)

Substantial Shareholders:
Strata Drilling WA Pty Ltd

2.

75,533,333 shares

representing 8.75% of the Company

Top Twenty Shareholders
Units Held

Percentage of
Issued Capital

Citigroup Nominees

79,962,193

9.27

2

Strata Drilling WA Pty Ltd

75,533,333

8.75

3

Cen Pty Ltd

50,395,127

5.84

4

Jerd Pty Ltd

33,000,000

3.82

5

W B Nominees

31,929,489

3.70

6

N R Forrester & Associates

30,469,767

3.53

7

Vanmali Pty Ltd

27,125,569

3.14

8

Ronald William O’Regan

20,886,730

2.42

9

Michael Damien Murphy

19,833,333

2.30

10

Alfred Patrick Stirling

18,823,530

2.18

11

J P Morgan Nominees

15,369,337

1.78

12

HSBC Custody Nominees

14,041,985

1.63

13

Michael Burke Homes Pty Ltd

12,500,000

1.45

14

Mr Leslie Hall & Associates

11,550,000

1.34

15

City House Liited

11,000,000

1.27

16

Andrew Ian Grant-Taylor and Nielma Louise Grant Taylor

10,000,000

1.16

17

Eldon Australia Pty Ltd

10,000,000

1.16

18

Mrs Eileen Anne English

9,999,999

1.16

19

Benjamin Mosigi

9,000,000

1.04

20

Rowan Jason Pty Ltd

8,000,000

0.93

499,420,392

57.87
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1

DETAILS OF THE COMPANY’S MINERAL TENEMENTS

Details of the Company’s Mineral Tenements
As at 27 September 2013

BOTSWANA

NAMIBIA
Tenement No.

Percentage of Equity

Percentage of Equity

Kihabe

Tsumkwe
EPL 4619

Tenement No.

85

PL 69/2003

Subject to litigation in
the High Court of
Botswana
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West Ngamiland
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PL 418/2009

100

PL 419/2009

100

PL 420/2009

100

PL 421/2009

100

PL 422/2009

100

PL 423/2009

100

PL 424/2009

100

PL 512/2009

100

